The Fourth Amendment

The Fourth Amendment

Its History and Interpretation

Thomas K. Clancy

Director, National Center for Justice and the Rule of Law and Research Professor, University of Mississippi School of Law

Carolina Academic Press

Durham, North Carolina

Copyright © 2008 Thomas K. Clancy All Rights Reserved

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Clancy, Thomas K.

The Fourth Amendment : its history and interpretation / by Thomas K. Clancy. p. cm.
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-1-59460-412-6 (alk. paper)
1. United States. Constitution. 4th Amendment. 2. Searches and seizures--United States.
I. Title.
KF9630.C53 2008 345.73'0522--dc22

2008026815

Carolina Academic Press 700 Kent Street Durham, North Carolina 27701 Telephone (919) 489-7486 Fax (919) 493-5668 www.cap-press.com

Printed in the United States of America

To my family Sally, Kevin, ఈ Brian

Amendment IV

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or things to be seized.

Summary of Contents

Preface		xix
Chapter 1	Approaching the Fourth Amendment	3
Chapter 2	Historical Overview of Search and Seizure Practices	23
Chapter 3	The Right to Be "Secure"	45
Chapter 4	Objects Protected by the Amendment: People, Persons, Houses, Papers, and Effects	117
Chapter 5	"Seizure": When Does a Seizure Occur?	151
Chapter 6	Arrests, Stops, and Other Seizures of Persons	217
Chapter 7	Defining "Search"	283
Chapter 8	Search Incident to Arrest	339
Chapter 9	Protective Weapon Searches [Frisks] and Sweeps	367
Chapter 10	Other Categories of Searches	399
Chapter 11	The Reasonableness of a Search or Seizure	465
Chapter 12	Warrant Issuance, Review, and Execution	549
Chapter 13	The Exclusionary Rule and Other Remedies	609
Table of Ca	ses	659
Index		703

Contents

Preface	xix
Chapter 1 Approaching the Fourth Amendment	3
§1.1. Fourth Amendment text	3
§1.2. Analytical structure of all Fourth Amendment questions	3
§1.2.1. Applicability	4
§1.2.1.1. Governmental activity: searches and seizures	4
\$1.2.1.1.1. Searches	4
\$1.2.1.1.2. Seizures	5
\$1.2.1.1.2.1. Seizures of persons	5
\$1.2.1.1.2.2. Seizures of property	7
\$1.2.1.2. Protected individual interests	7
\$1.2.2. Satisfaction	11
\$1.2.2.1. The reasonableness command	11
\$1.2.2.2. Warrant issues, including issuance, review, and execution	12
§1.2.3. Remedies	13
\$1.3. Tools to interpret the Amendment	14
§ 1.4. Independent state grounds	20
Chapter 2 Historical Overview of Search and Seizure Practices	23
§2.1. Introduction	23
\$2.2. Searches and seizures in England and its American colonies prior to the	
American Revolution	24
§2.2.1. Warrantless actions	24
\$2.2.2. Warrants and writs of assistance	27
\$2.2.3. Reaction to search and seizure practices	31
§2.2.3.1. The writs of assistance in America	32
§ 2.2.3.2. English cases	35
§ 2.2.3.3. State constitutions	38
§ 2.3. Drafting of the Fourth Amendment	40
§2.4. Post-drafting events to <i>Boyd</i>	42
Chapter 3 The Right to Be "Secure"	45
\$3.1. Introduction	46
§3.1.1. Overview of the current analysis	46
\$3.1.2. Historical conception of the word "secure"	47
§ 3.1.2.1. Framing era definitions	47
§ 3.1.2.2. <i>Entick</i> and other historical background	48

CONTENTS

§3.2. The origin, development, and [ostensible] demise of property analysis § 3.2.1. Hierarchy of property rights and substantive restrictions on	51
searches and seizures	51
§ 3.2.2. Tangible objects, physical invasions, and constitutionally	
protected areas	53
§ 3.2.3. Demise of the property-based theories and the emergence of privacy	55
§ 3.3. The reasonable expectation of privacy test	59
§ 3.3.1. Katz and reasonable expectations of privacy	59
§ 3.3.2. Privacy's relationship to the objects listed in the Amendment	60
§ 3.3.3. Creation of a hierarchy of privacy interests	61
§3.3.3.1. Situations where the Court has found no reasonable	
expectation of privacy	62
§3.3.3.2. Situations where the court has found reduced	
expectations of privacy	63
§3.3.4. Measuring expectations of privacy and techniques to create	
the hierarchy	64
§3.3.5. Critique of privacy as a centralizing principle	68
§3.4. Other protected interests	71
§ 3.4.1. Intimations of broader protections	71
\$3.4.2. Liberty and related terms	72
§ 3.4.3. Property, the home, and possessory interests	73
§ 3.4.4. Ability to exclude as the essential component of the right to be secure	77
§3.5. Limitations on protection	83
\$3.5.1. Assumption of risk, voluntary exposure, and shared privacy	83
\$3.5.1.1. In general	83
\$3.5.1.2. Possible restrictions on assumption of risk/voluntary	
exposure doctrines	89
§ 3.5.2. Standing	92
\$3.5.2.1. Introduction	92
\$3.5.2.2. Procedural aspects of the standing question	96
\$3.5.2.3. Current standing doctrine	97
\$3.5.2.4. Ramifications of standing principles	98
\$3.5.2.5. Rejected theories seeking to establish who the "victim" is	99
\$3.5.2.5.1. "Aggrieved by"	99
\$3.5.2.5.2. "Automatic standing"	100
\$3.5.2.5.3. Target theory/directed at	102
§3.5.2.6. Categories of persons seeking to challenge searches	103
§3.5.2.6.1. Coconspirators and codefendants	103
§ 3.5.2.6.2. Persons wrongfully on the premises	103
§3.5.2.6.3. Owners and other persons in their homes	104
\$3.5.2.6.4. Guests and others legitimately in another's home	105
§3.5.2.6.5. Persons conducting business and those	
paying for privacy	112
Chapter 4 Objects Protected by the Amendment: People, Persons,	
Houses, Papers, and Effects	117
§4.1. Introduction	117
§4.2. The "people"	118
§4.3. "Persons"	120

§4.4. "Houses"	121
§4.4.1. The home	121
\$4.4.1.1. Curtilage and open fields doctrine	123
§4.4.1.2. Access ways to the home	131
§4.4.2. Business and commercial premises	132
§4.4.2.1. Business curtilage	134
§4.4.2.2. Closely regulated industries	135
§4.5. "Papers"	139
§4.6. "Effects"	140
§4.6.1. In general	140
§4.6.2. Abandoned property	141
§4.6.2.1. In general	141
\$4.6.2.2. Garbage	148
Chapter 5 "Seizure": When Does a Seizure Occur?	151
\$5.1. Seizure of a person	152
§ 5.1.1. Introduction	152
§ 5.1.1.1. Overview of current analysis	152
\$5.1.1.2. Nature of the interest implicated by a seizure	152
\$5.1.1.2. Nature of the interest implicated by a seizure \$5.1.1.3. The variety of encounters	155
§ 5.1.2. Initial views of the concept of a seizure	154
*	155
\$5.1.2.1. Common law background: arrests as the only	155
type of seizure 55122 Division of the concent of a coincurry Terry Obio	
\$5.1.2.2. Division of the concept of a seizure: <i>Terry v. Ohio</i>	156
§ 5.1.3. Seizures involving physical contact	157
§ 5.1.4. Show of authority seizures	161
\$5.1.4.1. Reasonable person test	162
§5.1.4.1.1. Initial development of the reasonable person test	162
§ 5.1.4.1.2. Modifying the "free to leave" language:	1.4
freedom to "terminate the encounter"	164
§5.1.4.1.3. Supreme Court cases examining what	
constitutes a show of authority	165
§ 5.1.4.1.4. Lessons from the Supreme Court cases:	
the limited scope of what constitutes a	
show of authority	175
\$5.1.4.1.5. Lower court cases on shows of authority	177
§5.1.4.2. Requirement of submission	179
\$5.1.4.2.1. Creation of the need for submission	179
§5.1.4.2.2. What constitutes submission	183
§5.1.4.2.3. The point at which submission occurs	187
§5.1.4.2.4. Merits of the submission requirement	188
§5.1.4.2.5. Independent state grounds—rejecting	
Hodari D.	193
§ 5.1.5. Detainee responses to a seizure	193
§5.1.5.1. Abandonment and inappropriate responses	194
§5.1.5.2. Flight as ending an initial seizure	197
§5.1.6. Attempted acquisition of control: a proposed definition of a seizure	199
§5.2. Seizures of property	201
§5.2.1. Introduction	201

§ 5.2.2. Physical seizures of material property	202
§ 5.2.2.1. Seizures of homes	202
§ 5.2.2.2. Seizures of effects	204
§ 5.2.3. Tracking devices	212
§ 5.2.4. Intangible property and digital evidence	213
§5.2.5. Protected interests in property in addition to possession	215
Chapter 6 Arrests, Stops, and Other Seizures of Persons	217
\$6.1. Introduction	218
§6.2. Seizures in historical context	219
§6.3. Arrests	220
§6.3.1. Common law definition of arrest	222
§6.3.2. Supreme Court development of the concept of arrest	226
§6.3.2.1. Pre-1968 decisions—vision #1: consistency with	
the common law	227
\$6.3.2.2. The 1968 decisions	228
§6.3.2.2.1. Terry v. Ohio—vision #2: arrest as initial	
stage of prosecution	228
§6.3.2.2.2. Peters v. New York—vision #3: any probable-	
cause based detention	229
§6.3.2.3. The 1968–73 decisions—vision #4: a multitude of seizures	231
\$6.3.2.4. The 1973 decisions—vision #5: three types of seizures:	
stops; arrests; and formal or custodial arrests	232
\$6.3.2.5. 1979–83—vision #6: apparent solidification into	
two categories	233
\$6.3.2.6. 1980-on: the persistence of vision #4: formal and	
informal arrests	236
§6.3.2.7. Vision #7: Hodari D. and the common law of arrest	237
§6.3.2.8. Knowles v. Iowa: a new or revisited vision?	238
§6.3.3. The confusion in academia and the lower courts	239
§6.3.3.1. Attempts at synthesis	239
§6.3.3.2. Reliance on the common law	239
§6.3.3.3. Any detention based on probable cause to arrest	239
§6.3.3.4. Custodial and non-custodial arrests	240
§6.3.3.5. Custody—intent to release	241
§6.3.3.6. Formal arrests	241
§6.3.3.7. Reasonable person test	241
§6.3.3.8. Fact-specific analysis	242
§6.3.4. Considerations in defining arrest	242
§6.3.4.1. The relationship of state law to Fourth Amendment analysis	242
§6.3.4.2. Analysis of the various definitions of "arrest"	244
§6.3.5. Arrest warrants—when needed	249
§6.3.6. Pretrial detention after warrantless arrests; probable cause hearings	249
§6.4. Stops and distinguishing them from arrests	251
§6.4.1. Constitutional basis for limitations on the scope of stops	252
§6.4.2. Permissible investigative techniques—in general	253
§6.4.2.1. Length of detention	254
§6.4.2.2. Type of criminal activity being investigated	255
§6.4.2.3. Diligence and means used in pursuing the investigation	256

§6.4.2.4. Suspect's actions contributing to delay	258
§6.4.2.5. Movement of the suspect	258
§6.4.2.6. Questions of suspect/others	259
§6.4.2.7. Requests for identification	261
§6.4.2.8. Use of force and protective actions	262
§6.4.2.9. Other permissible actions during a stop	263
§6.4.3. Traffic stops	264
§6.4.3.1. License, registration, computer checks, and	
VIN examinations	265
§6.4.3.2. Orders to exit the vehicle	266
§6.5. Roadblocks and checkpoints	268
§6.6. Detentions during execution of search warrants	269
§6.6.1. Residents, occupants, and visitors	271
§6.6.2. What constitutes "of the premises"?	274
§6.6.3. Protective actions during detention	276
§6.7. Detention of material witnesses	278
Chapter 7 Defining "Search"	283
§7.1. Overview	284
§7.2. Historical context of "searches"	285
§7.3. Physical invasions; two-sided nature of search analysis	287
§7.3.1. Plain feel doctrine	290
§7.4. Non-tactile searches	292
§7.4.1. Boyd, liberalism, and the constructive search doctrine	292
§7.4.2. Olmstead and the literal view	295
§7.4.3. The erosion of <i>Olmstead</i> : intangible interests and intrusions,	
hearing, and <i>Katz</i>	295
§7.4.4. Visual inspection	297
§7.4.4.1. In general	297
§7.4.4.2. Enhancements to vision and changing position	298
§7.4.4.3. Limitations	300
§7.4.4.4 Plain view doctrine	301
§7.4.4.1. Prior valid intrusion or otherwise legitimate	202
location	303
§7.4.4.2. Lawful position to seize the object	305
§7.4.4.4.3. Incriminating character of the object must be	200
immediately apparent	306
§7.4.5. Sense of smell	307
§7.4.5.1. In general/plain smell	307
§7.4.5.2. Enhancement of the olfactory sense: dog sniffs	308
§7.4.6. Technology	309
§7.5. Considerations in defining a "search"	314
§7.5.1. Analogy to physical invasions	314
§7.5.2. Purpose inquiry	316
§7.5.3. The nature of what is discovered and the context of discovery	319
§7.5.4. Sophistication of the device used and its use by the public	321
§7.6. Private searches and the requirement of governmental action	323
§7.6.1. In general	323
§7.6.2. Fourth Amendment applicability: who is a government agent?	324

xiii

§7.6.2.1. Supreme Court cases	324
§7.6.2.2. Lower court cases	327
§7.6.3. Government replication of a private search	331
§7.6.4. The context in which an object is found after a private search	332
Chapter 8 Search Incident to Arrest	339
§8.1. General considerations and evolution of the doctrine	339
§8.1.1. Early practices	340
§8.1.2. Exigency versus categorical approach	340
§8.1.3. Officer safety and evidence recovery justifications	342
§8.2. Permissible objects sought	343
§8.3. Timing and location of the search	344
§8.4. Scope: arrestee's body	351
§8.5. Scope: areas within the arrestee's "control"	355
§8.6. Scope: vehicle searches incident to arrest	358
§8.7. Justice Scalia's opinion in <i>Thornton</i> and alternative views	
regarding search incident to arrest	361
Chapter 9 Protective Weapon Searches [Frisks] and Sweeps	367
§9.1. Protective weapons searches [frisks]	367
§9.1.1. Overview	367
§9.1.2. Justification for	369
§9.1.3. Scope of—in general	371
§9.1.4. Scope of—persons	371
§9.1.4.1. Supreme Court cases	371
§9.1.4.2. Lower court views	376
§9.1.4.3. The misconceived patdown limitation	378
§9.1.4.3.1. Least intrusive means analysis	379
§9.1.4.3.2. Police perjury	381
§9.1.4.3.3. Bright line rules	382
§9.1.4.4. The proper scope of a protective search	384
\$9.1.4.4.1. The level of assurance that the police may obtain	384
§ 9.1.4.4.2. Limits based on weapons size	385
§ 9.1.5. Protective searches beyond the person:	• • • •
vehicles, places, and items	388
§9.2. Protective sweeps	392
Chapter 10 Other Categories of Searches	399
§10.1. Automobile searches—probable cause based	399
§10.2. Border enforcement	403
\$10.2.1. Searches at the international border	403
§10.2.2. Letters and data as targets; the technological border	408
§10.2.3. Roving patrols and checkpoints away from the border	412
\$10.3. Community caretaking	413
§10.4. Consent	417
\$10.4.1. Overview of current standard	417
\$10.4.2. Evolution of the treatment of consent	419
§ 10.4.2.1. Waiver versus objective reasonableness	419
§10.4.2.2. Factors in totality test	424

§10.4.3. Scope of consent	428
§10.4.4. Third party consent	429
§10.4.4.1. Actual authority	430
§10.4.4.2. Apparent authority	435
\$10.4.4.2.1. In general	435
\$10.4.4.2.2. Physical locks and password protected	
computer files	436
§ 10.5. Entranceway screening	438
§10.6. Exigent circumstances	447
§ 10.7. Fire fighting and investigations	455
§ 10.8. Inventory searches	457
§10.9. Subpoenas duces tecum	462
Chapter 11 The Reasonableness of a Search or Seizure	465
§11.1. Importance of the concept of reasonableness	466
§11.2. Origins of the concept of reasonableness	469
§11.2.1. Searches and seizures in England and in America through 1791	469
§11.2.2. Rise and fall of substantive restrictions on searches and seizures	469
§11.3. Procedural regulation of searches and seizures	470
§11.3.1. Model #1: the warrant requirement	471
§11.3.2. Model #2: individualized suspicion	473
§11.3.2.1. Two types of individualized suspicion	475
\$11.3.2.1.1. Probable cause	476
\$11.3.2.1.2. Articulable suspicion	478
\$11.3.2.2. Types and sources of information	481
\$11.3.2.3. Informants	482
§11.3.3. Model #3: case-by-case model	485
\$11.3.3.1. Genesis of the case-by-case model	485
\$11.3.3.2. Competition between the case-by-case and	
warrant preference models	486
§11.3.4. Model #4: the balancing test	489
\$11.3.4.1. Genesis of balancing	489
\$11.3.4.2. The dramatic restructuring in the 1960s and	
the rise of balancing	490
\$11.3.4.3. The broad application of the balancing test	493
\$11.3.4.4. Factors in the balancing test	495
\$11.3.4.4.1. Individual's interest	496
\$11.3.4.4.2. Government interests	498
\$11.3.4.4.2.1. Identifying the government interest	499
\$11.3.4.4.2.2. Special needs	501
\$11.3.4.4.3. Necessity for the intrusion	502
\$11.3.4.4.4. Nature of the intrusion/procedures utilized	
in planning and executing the intrusion	505
\$11.3.5. Model #5: common law plus balancing	507
\$11.3.6. Situations that do not fit any of the five models	509
§11.3.6.1. Bodily integrity	510
\$11.3.6.2. Free speech and private conversations	511
\$11.3.6.3. The home	511
§11.4. The Court's attempts to harmonize the models	512

§11.5. Proposed hierarchy of reasonableness	515
\$11.5.1. Individualized suspicion	518
\$11.5.2. The role of warrants	519
\$11.5.3. Alternative objective criteria	523
§11.5.3.1. The government interest	523
\$11.5.3.2. Necessity	524
\$11.5.3.3. Neutral, fixed criteria	529
§11.5.4. A residual role for case-by-case analysis?	530
§11.6. Other aspects of reasonableness	532
§11.6.1. Two-fold nature of reasonableness-scope considerations	532
\$11.6.1.1. In general	532
§11.6.1.2. Least intrusive means analysis	533
§11.6.2. Pretextual actions and racial discrimination	536
\$11.6.2.1. Objective intent	536
\$11.6.2.2. Race and ethnicity considerations	539
§11.6.3. Bright line rules vs. case-by-case adjudication	542
\$11.6.4. Unreasonable or excessive force	545
Chapter 12 Warrant Issuance, Review, and Execution	549
\$12.1. Introduction	550
§12.2. Warrant issuance requirements	550
\$12.2.1. In general	550
§12.2.2. Rejection of unenumerated requirements	552
§ 12.2.3. Anticipatory warrants	554
§12.3. Review of the decision to issue a warrant	555
§12.3.1. Probable cause deficiencies	557
§ 12.3.2. The magistrate has abandoned his role	561
§ 12.3.3. Misrepresentations by the affiant	562
§12.4. Particularity requirement of the Warrant Clause	564
\$12.4.1. In general	564
§12.4.2. Historical basis and function of particularity requirement	565
§ 12.4.3. Sufficiency of description	566
§ 12.4.4. Free speech and free press concerns	568
§ 12.4.5. Private conversations and electronic surveillance	569
§ 12.4.6. Electronic tracking devices	572
§12.4.7. Document searches	572
§12.4.8. Computer and electronic evidence searches:	
varieties of computer searches	574
§12.4.8.1. Searches for computer equipment	575
§ 12.4.8.2. Searches for data	575
\$12.4.8.2.1. Data are forms of records/container analogy	576
§ 12.4.8.2.2. Rejection of the document search and container	
analogy: a "special approach"	579
§ 12.4.8.2.3. Premises of the "special approach"	581
\$12.4.9. Suppression and good faith	584
\$12.5. Warrant execution	586
§ 12.5.1. Introduction	586
§ 12.5.2. Timing of execution of warrants	586
\$12.5.2.1. Time periods for warrants to be valid	586
*	

CON	TENT	'S

§12.5.2.2. Staleness	590
§12.5.3. Nighttime execution of warrants	592
§12.5.4. Knock and announce requirement	594
§12.5.5. Other rule based execution issues	595
§12.5.5.1. Notice of search	595
§12.5.5.2. Inventory; return of warrant	597
§12.5.6. Executing warrants for intermingled documents/data	598
§12.5.7. Proper assistants—who can accompany the police	603
§12.5.8. Search of persons on premises	604
Chapter 13 The Exclusionary Rule and Other Remedies	609
§13.1. Introduction	609
§13.2. Evolution of exclusionary rule doctrine	612
§13.3. Causation: fruit and attenuation analysis	628
§13.3.1. In general	628
§13.3.1.1. Fruit analysis	629
§13.3.1.2. Cost-benefit analysis	631
§13.3.2. Defendant's statements	632
§13.3.3. Witness testimony	634
§13.3.4. Identification of the defendant	635
§13.3.5. Defendant's presence and physical characteristics	636
§13.3.6. Per se attenuation based on the interest protected:	
in-home arrests; knock and announce violations	637
§13.4. Independent source doctrine	640
§13.5. Inevitable discovery	644
\$13.6. Substantiality of the violation and "good faith"	646
§13.6.1. Warrants	647
§13.6.2. Clerical errors by court personnel	648
§ 13.6.3. Statutes	649
§.13.6.4. Warrantless actions	651
§13.7. Impeachment	653
\$13.8. Other remedies	654
Table of Cases	659
Index	703

xvii

Preface

This book is designed to be an accessible and authoritative resource on the Fourth Amendment. It examines current search and seizure principles and provides the historical context and development of those principles. It takes a structural approach to the Fourth Amendment, addressing foundational questions: What is a search? What is a seizure? What—and who—does the Amendment protect? When is it satisfied? When does the exclusionary rule apply? By doing so, as explained in Chapter 1, it seeks to add clarity to the understanding of Fourth Amendment principles.

This book comprehensively treats United States Supreme Court case law, setting forth that Court's development of search and seizure principles, with the goal to provide context and understanding to current doctrine. Vast amounts of litigation in the lower courts and scholarly comments are generated each year. Writing a book such as this requires sorting through this mass of material. In choosing what to cite, I have tried to include representative cases and authorities that illustrate and illuminate Fourth Amendment principles, that are on issues undecided by the Supreme Court, or that offer a different point of view. At several points in this book, I offer my own views but have attempted to do so in a manner that clearly demonstrates that it is not the view of the Court.

The Fourth Amendment protects citizens against unreasonable governmental searches and seizures. Due to the wide applicability of governmental intrusions, ranging from countless thousands of daily intrusions at airports, traffic stops, drug testing, traditional criminal law enforcement practices, regulatory intrusions to enforce health, safety, environmental, and other regulatory schemes, and many other searches and seizures, the Amendment is the most commonly implicated and litigated part of our Constitution. It is the foundation upon which other freedoms rest.¹ Its fundamental promise is that individuals will be secure against unreasonable searches and seizures. That promise, however, is only one way of approaching the Amendment. Government officials—principally law enforcement agents—are permitted to make reasonable intrusions to effectuate legitimate governmental and societal needs. The operative word is "reasonable," which is the fundamental but undefined command of the Amendment.² A central challenge for courts is to give meaning to that term so law enforcement and individuals may know what the

^{1. [}T]he Fourth Amendment may plausibly be viewed as the centerpiece of a free, democratic society. All other freedoms presuppose that lawless police action have been restrained. What good is freedom of speech or freedom of religion or any other freedom if law enforcement officers have unfettered power to violate a person's privacy and liberty when he sits in his home or drives his car or walks the streets?

Yale Kamisar, *The Fourth Amendment and Its Exclusionary Rule*, THE CHAMPION, Sept.–Oct. 1991, at 20–21.

^{2.} One commentator, often quoted, has described the Amendment as having the virtue of brevity and the vice of ambiguity. Jacob W. Landynski, Search and Seizure and the Supreme Court 42 (1966).

government may permissibly do. The Court has used many tools to interpret the Fourth Amendment and, as any student of the Amendment knows, it has never been accused of being consistent over time. But perhaps its choices come down to this: is the Amendment designed primarily to protect individuals from overreaching governmental invasions or is it designed to regulate law enforcement practices? The first view would promote individual liberty and the second would offer a rule book for the police to effectuate their intrusions.

This book is the product of many influences, ranging from my own interactions with law enforcement to decades of studying the Fourth Amendment. Most immediately, I thank those who provided comments and insights on various chapters. Those individuals include Marc Harrold, Don Mason, and Jack Nowlin. I received research assistance from Michael Gorman and Jessica Rawls. Alysson Mills provided invaluable editorial assistance that significantly improved each chapter. Celeste Sherwood and Cherry Douglas assisted with preparing the manuscript. More generally, this book is the result of several decades of writing about search and seizure, teaching search and seizure at five different law schools, lecturing to judges, attorneys, and law enforcement around the country, and litigating motions to suppress at trial and, more often, on appeal. Along the way, I have had the honor of appearing in six different appellate courts. Of particular note, I spent 10 years as an Assistant Attorney General in the State of Maryland and briefed and argued more than 750 cases before the appellate courts of that state. Both of those courts-the Court of Appeals and the Court of Special Appeals-had honorable and knowledgeable experts on the Fourth Amendment. To mention only one, Judge Charles Moylan, for decades has been an important contributor to search and seizure jurisprudence in his published opinions, lectures, and publications. Arguing a close case before him and other members of the Court of Special Appeals-with a worthy opponent knowledgeable on the Fourth Amendment, such as Jose Anderson, now a professor at the University of Baltimore—was as good as it gets in a courtroom.

More recently, I have had the privilege of serving as Director of the National Center for Justice and the Rule of Law and Research Professor at the University of Mississippi School of Law. Dean Samuel Davis provided me with the resources and ability to create several programs at the Center, including the Fourth Amendment Initiative. Through that initiative, the Center offers educational opportunities to judges, prosecutors, and law enforcement on search and seizure, including in emerging areas such as computer searches and seizures. The Center works with the National Judicial College to develop national programs for trial and appellate judges. It works with the National Association of Attorneys General on programs for assistant attorneys general and it partners with Mississippi State University on computer search and seizure programs for judges and law enforcement. The Center has a dozen conferences each year, with the James Otis Lecture and the Fourth Amendment Symposium, as annual highlights. These conferences and lectures have brought many of the best minds in the country to Oxford, Mississippi to debate aspects of the Fourth Amendment—and the results have been published in special editions of the Mississippi Law Journal. From each of those participants I have learned much and I deeply appreciate their contributions.

Finally, I acknowledge the work of Wayne R. LaFave, the twentieth century's foremost authority on the Fourth Amendment and his decades-long effort in his treatise to advance understanding of Fourth Amendment principles.

Many have influenced this book for the better. Its faults are mine.

A Note on Editing

Quotations in this book are edited and many changes are made without acknowledgment of omissions of paragraph breaks, internal citations, footnotes, and similar material.

> Thomas K. Clancy March 1, 2008